
Please ask for:
Linda Coote
Direct dial:
(023) 9254 5421
Fax:
(023) 9254 5587
E-mail:

3rd March 2021

S U M M O N S

MEETING: Climate Change Board
DATE: 11 March 2021
TIME: 6.00 pm
PLACE: Virtual
Democratic Services contact: Linda Coote

PAUL GRANT
BOROUGH SOLICITOR

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Councillor Hook (ex-Officio)
Councillor Mrs Huggins (Mayor) and Councillor Jessop (Chairman)

Councillor Mrs Morgan (Vice-Chair)

Councillor Mrs Batty
Councillor Blackman
Councillor Carter
Councillor Casey
Councillor Chegwyn
Councillor Mrs Cully
Councillor Earle

Councillor Mrs Hook
Councillor Hylands
Councillor Johnston
Councillor Mitchell
Councillor Pepper
Councillor Raffaelli

Public Document Pack



NOTE:

i. Councillors are requested to note that, if any Councillor who is not a Member of the Board 
wishes to speak at the Board meeting, then the Borough Solicitor is required to receive 
not less than 24 hours prior notice in writing or electronically and such notice shall 
indicate the agenda item or items on which the member wishes to speak. 

ii. Please note that mobile phones should be switched off or switched to silent for the duration 
of the meeting.

iii. This meeting may be filmed or otherwise recorded. By attending this meeting, you are 
consenting to any broadcast of your image and being recorded. 



Climate Change Board
11 March 2021

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES FOR NON ATTENDANCE 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

All members are required to disclose at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter, any disclosable pecuniary interest or 
personal interest in any item(s) being considered at this meeting.

3.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE CLIMATE 
CHANGE BOARD 

4.  DEPUTATIONS 

(NOTE: the Board is required to receive a deputation(s) on a matter 
which is before the meeting of the Board provided that notice of the 
intended deputation and its object shall have been received by the 
Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Tuesday 9th March .The total time 
for deputations in favour and against a proposal shall not exceed 10 
minutes)

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS- STANDING ORDER 3.5 

(NOTE: The Board is required to allow a total of 15 minutes for 
questions from members of the public on matters within the terms of 
reference of the Board provided that notice of such Question(s) shall 
have been submitted to the Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on 
Tuesday 9th March)

6.  PRESENTATION BY GOSPORT FAIRTRADE 

7.  OUTCOMES  FROM T&F GROUP 

To report back to the Board on the activities and conclusions of the 
Task & Finish group on contingency plans for aquatic wildlife in the 
Borough.

8.  KEY ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

To set out proposals for implementing the key engagement activities 
identified in the Climate Change Community Engagement 
Framework, for approval by the Board.

9.  CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION PLAN PROGRESS 



Climate Change Board
11 March 2021

This report sets out the progress that has been achieved against the 
Climate Change Action Plan that was approved at the Climate 
Change Board meeting of 17th September 2020.

10.  ANY OTHER ITEMS 



Climate Change Board
21 January 2021

1

A MEETING OF THE CLIMATE CHANGE BOARD
WAS HELD ON 21 JANUARY 2021

Councillors Mrs Huggins, Mrs Batty, Blackman, Carter, Casey, Chegwyn, Mrs Cully, Earle, 
Mrs Hook, Hylands, Jessop, Johnston, Mitchell, Mrs Morgan, Pepper and Raffaelli

17. APOLOGIES FOR NON ATTENDANCE 

There were none

18. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were none

19. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE CLIMATE CHANGE BOARD 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 November 2020 be signed as a 
true and correct record, with one spelling error corrected.

20. DEPUTATIONS 

There were none

21. PUBLIC QUESTIONS- STANDING ORDER 3.5 

There were none

22. CLIMATE CHANGE COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Corporate Policy and Community Safety 
asking the Board to approve the Climate Change Community Engagement Framework.

The Head of Corporate Policy and Community safety advised that the framework had been 
updated since the last Climate Change Board meeting, and suggested that for the next 
meeting a paper laying out the operational procedures that underpin the framework be 
brought which would lay out the possible consultations.

Members were reassured that all aspects of GDPR would be covered by privacy notices 
and controls in place. The officer also explained that safeguarding processes would also be 
in place in regard to the activities for the younger participants, either by Gosport Borough 
Councils safeguarding officer or by the contractors carrying out the activities. Schools 
councils and the existing Summer Passport mechanism would be used to facilitate the 
activities with young people. 

Members were advised that costed proposals would be brought before the Board for a 
decisions on activity levels to ensure the limited budget was kept under control.

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 3



Climate Change Board
21 January 2021

2

Members wished to congratulate the Head of Corporate Policy and Community Safety and 
her team on the comprehensive framework which reflected the previous discussions. They 
were pleased that all members of society would have an equal opportunity to put forward 
ideas and suggestions and contribute to overcoming detrimental aspects of the 
environment.

Members were concerned about the wording for the definition of the Citizens Assembly, 
and were keen that it ran in parallel and partnership to the Climate Change Board, able to 
challenge and inform but not dictate.

The Head of Corporate Policy and Community Safety suggested bringing forward a paper 
to the next Board meeting which would define the costs involved in the Citizens Assembly 
including resourcing costs. This paper could also include best practise examples for the 
Terms of Reference for discussion.

Members were reminded that at the present time all the Board were being asked to do is 
approve the framework. 

Members were advised that as yet, the size of the Assembly is yet to be determined, but 
would probably include the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Climate Change Board, an 
Officer of the Council and key stakeholders. This may be organisations which can act as an 
umbrella for other organisations. Examples of best practise would be brought back to the 
Board for decision.

Members were keen that the framework was seen to actually achieve something. 

Members wished to acknowledge the strategic content of the paper, and how the strategies 
are all encompassing.

Members were advised that the make-up of the Assembly is still a work in progress, and 
suggestions on where the consultations should start would be welcomed.

The Head of Corporate Policy and Community Safety agreed to carry out some research 
into other Citizens Assemblies to help inform the Boards decisions.

RESOLVED: That the Climate Change Community Engagement Framework was approved.

23. CLIMATE COALITION DECLARATION 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Corporate Policy and Community Safety 
asking the Board to consider and approve a recommendation that the Council signs the 
Climate Coalition Declaration for a Healthy Greener Fairer Tomorrow (thereafter referred to 
as “The Declaration”.)

Members advised that they felt the Declaration as it stood could be construed as signing up 
to what appeared to be a lobbying group. On the information available, Members were 
unclear how the Declaration would help the people of Gosport.

A Member was concerned that not every member of the Board had read the 10 Point Plan 
that the Climate Coalition has put forward, and taken on board the financial implications.



Climate Change Board
21 January 2021

3

The Head of Corporate Policy and Community Safety advised that the report had been 
brought as a result of a request at the last Board meeting.

A Member reminded the Board that they had asked this report to be brought on behalf of 
the Gosport Fair Trade Action group, and a representative of that organisation would be 
willing to attend the next meeting to make a presentation.

After further discussion, Councillor Cully proposed to defer this motion to a later meeting 
when a presentation could be made to the Board be made to further inform their decision.

 Councillor Raffaelli seconded.

RESOLVED:  That this item be deferred to a later meeting.

24. POSSIBLE STRATEGIES FOR REDUCED GRASS CUTTING AND REWILDING 

Consideration as given to a report by the Head of Corporate Policy and Community safety 
setting out a range of possible strategies that could be adopted to increase biodiversity, 
once grounds, parks and verges maintenance is brought in house, so that the Climate 
Change Board can consider these and feed comments to the Community Board.

The Chairman of the Community Board wished to explain to Members that as part of the 
development of a strategy for green spaces and verges carried out by The Head of 
Streetscene, for once they were under the control of the Council, a plan to start wild 
flowering where suitable taking in to account residents requirements was being developed. 
The Board report is very much a joint approach to develop a way ahead. In future planned 
works could be shared with members and residents in advance.

A Member was concerned that a reduction in grass cutting would cause fly tipping.

The Head of Streetscene reassured Members that they would not be reducing the number 
of times the grass would be cut, but would cut thoughtfully to introduce meadow areas 
whilst keeping a clean edge in areas such as cycle tracks. 

Members asked for clarification on how the Council would work with the many private land 
owners. The Head of Streetscene hoped that the Council could give help and guidance to 
other land owners and encourage them to adopt the same policy.

Members were very pleased that the Council was going to proactively encourage bee 
corridors, and hoped that conservation areas would be increased and sustainable plants 
would be used.

Members were keen that the longer grass didn’t attract dog fouling.

Members wished for hedges to be introduced to hide metal railings.

Members hoped that the community could be involved, in particular school children to get 
engagement and buy in. Gosport in Bloom could be used to engage with gardeners. 



Climate Change Board
21 January 2021

4

Members wanted to ensure that the correct plants were used, in the right area, taking into 
account weather conditions, and trying to include plants that had a longer life.

RESOLVED: That the comments of the Climate Change Board are noted for Community 
Board.

25. APPROACHES TO PROMOTION OF ELECTRIC VEHICLES 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Corporate Policy and Community Safety 
summarising the approaches taken to support use of electric vehicles

A Member asked if Solar Power could be incorporated into the charging points and was 
advised that opportunities for installing solar panels were being investigated.

Members asked for clarification of the use of Thorngate Way car park.

Members were concerned that parking revenue would be lost and were advised that the 
two charging points in Walpole Park do require an appropriate ticket. The charging points 
are still owned and run by SSE so figures on usage are not readily available, but could be 
obtained from Hampshire County Council. Other points are in privately owned 
supermarkets and petrol stations, so again figures are not available.

The Head of Streetscene agreed that take up of electric vehicles in Gosport might be lower 
than other areas due to its good cycle lanes, but routes and ferry usage. It might also be 
that future working from home might reduce the need for vehicles of any type.

The Head of Streetscene advised that in many cases the charging equipment is installed 
free of charge or at reduced rates, but couldn’t see the provision of the electricity being free 
of charge.

Then Head of Corporate Policy and Community Safety advised that the Council would have 
to be mindful of other technologies and responsive and adaptable, and aware of how 
national drivers affect local need.

A member wished to point out that the drive to introduce electric cars and the reduction of 
availability of petrol cars may have a detrimental effect on the poor being able to afford a 
vehicle. The Head of Streetscene agreed there would possibly be a period where costs 
would increase before the availability of the technology brought down prices. 

Members wished for the Council to be a good example in introducing alternative fuels and 
options for travel.

The Head of Streetscene advised that it was hoped that the Council fleet could be replaced 
by electrically run vehicles when the lease became renewable, as they are basic cars used 
by Streetscene. Research and testing would have to be carried out on vehicles in the DSO 
fleet to see which vehicles could be replaced and which require a specification that doesn’t 



Climate Change Board
21 January 2021

5

currently exist in electric vehicles. Walk behind sweepers are all now electric powered, 
making them quieter, less polluting and more environmentally friendly. Hedge cutters and 
grounds maintenance are already featuring battery power.

RESOLVED: The comments were noted.

26. ANY OTHER ITEMS 

There were none

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 7.38 pm



This page is intentionally left blank



Board/Committee: Climate Change Board
Date of Meeting: 11th March 2021

Title: Outcomes of Task & Finish group on contingency 
plans for aquatic wildlife in the Borough

Author: Task & Finish group
Status: For approval

Purpose

To report back to the Board on the activities and conclusions of the Task & 
Finish group on contingency plans for aquatic wildlife in the Borough. 

Recommendation

1. That the Board accepts the information provided in this report as the final 
output of the Task & Finish Group on contingency plans for aquatic wildlife 
in the Borough.

2. That the Board refers this Task and Finish Group investigatory report to 
the Community Board for consideration. 

1 Background

1.1 Following incidents of fish die-off in several locations in August 2020, 
a report was presented to the Board meeting of 17th September 2020 
requesting the establishment of a task and finish group to consider 
contingency plans related to this incident.

1.2 As a result, Members resolved at this Board meeting to establish a 
Task & Finish group to consider:

i. external agencies and organisations that the Council should 
directly consult and engage on this matter;

ii. actions that the Council is able to procure or carry out itself or 
with partners in relation to the issue.

1.3 Members resolved that the Task & Finish group should report back to 
the Board in no more than six months on the outcomes of the group’s 
work.

1.4 Since the Task & Finish group was established in response to fish 
die-off incidents, its remit was assumed to be limited to contingency 
plans for aquatic wildlife in the Borough.

Agenda Item 7



2 Report

2.1 Investigations were undertaken by the Task & Finish group into the 
following aspects of the issue.

 Identification and analysis of areas of water of interest.

 Possible causes of the fish die-off incidents that occurred in 
August 2020.

 Actions already underway that are likely to help reduce these 
incidents, and external bodies that the Council is engaging with.

 Additional actions that should be considered, and external bodies 
that the Council should liaise with in relation to these.

These aspects are covered in turn below.

Areas of water of interest

2.2 The Task & Finish group worked on bringing together a single view of 
all areas of interest.  This is provided in Appendix 1, and provides 
information about ownership and responsible agencies, as well as 
indicating any known issues that have been observed and the most 
recent assessments of their condition where provided by Natural 
England.

2.3 Some of the bodies of water referred to in Appendix 1 do not have 
universally agreed names.  To avoid confusion, a map showing the 
location of each body of water is provided in Appendix 2, and the 
names used in the following sections match those given in the 
appendices.

2.4 This overview highlights the need for an overall action plan, rather 
than individual responses to problems seen at particular locations, 
since many of the contributing factors and possible mitigation 
measures will be common across multiple locations.

Possible causes

2.5 The Environment Agency dealt with a large number of incidents 
relating to fish distress and mortality in August 2020, suggesting that 
the incidents in Gosport do not indicate management issues of 
greater concern than those that exist elsewhere.  Nevertheless, by 
addressing possible contributing factors it may be possible to reduce 
the frequency of such incidents.



2.6 The Environment Agency advised that it is not possible to determine 
the exact cause of the fish die-off incidents in Gosport, since there 
was no water quality monitoring in place at the time.  However there 
are a number of possible contributing factors.

2.7 The incidents occurred at the end of a period of hot dry weather, 
which coincided with neap tides.  This prevented water refresh in 
Alverstoke Lake, one of the locations at which fish die-off occurred, 
which will have resulted in increased water temperatures and salinity, 
and reduced oxygenation (since the solubility of oxygen decreases 
as water temperature increases).

2.8 Alverstoke Lake is situated behind a weir which was not overtopped 
by the neap tides.  There is a sluice gate in the weir which could have 
enabled water exchange but this is currently non-operational and 
permanently closed.  Natural England has however advised that it 
does not believe there is any need for regular flushing.

2.9 Fish die-off also occurred at Fort Brockhurst moat and Elmore Lake.  
Since these are fed only by rainfall, the hot dry weather would also 
have resulted in increased water temperature and reduced 
oxygenation in these cases.

2.10 Reduced oxygenation can also be caused by eutrophication; that is, 
an increase in biological oxygen demand due to growth of algae.  
This was investigated as a possible factor in the saline lagoons since 
it is known that nutrient levels in the Solent are excessive.  However 
the advice from the Environment Agency was that was unlikely to 
have contributed to the fish die-off incidents since nutrient levels are 
stable and there was no visible evidence of algal blooms.

2.11 Pollution, exacerbated by the reduced water levels, is another 
possible contributing factor that cannot be ruled out.  There are 
known issues with fly-tipping in Fort Brockhurst moat.  Task & Finish 
group members identified several possible sources of pollution in 
Alverstoke Lake: debris from adjacent properties burning garden 
waste; increased number of horses in an adjacent paddock; and 
increased recreational use of the lake.  A forthcoming report from the 
Environment Agency is expected to help the Council consider the 
appropriate balance between allowing recreational use of the lake 
and maintaining its natural ecology.

2.12 Surface water runoff following heavy rain after a prolonged dry spell 
can also carry pollutants.  The Environment Agency has advised that 
this was not a factor in the incidents seen in August 2020, but it 
should be considered when planning mitigations strategies.



Actions already underway

2.13 Existing management activities

Cockle Pond is already extensively managed (under an annually 
renewed licence from Natural England).  Streetscene operate the 
sluice gate to carry out regular flushing and an annual draindown and 
clean, and also carry out regular weed cutting.  The model boat club 
carries out anti-algal dosing and regular monitoring and water quality 
readings.

Streetscene also manage the sluice gate at The Ramparts, which is 
opened regularly and on request; this will be transferred to the DSO 
once it is established.  Southern Water manages the sluice gate at 
Gilkicker Lagoon.

2.14 Alverstoke Lake

While confirmation from Hampshire County Council’s deeds is still 
outstanding, all evidence obtained to date indicates that the Council 
is responsible for the sluice gate.  Task & Finish group members 
requested that the possibility of repairing it be investigated, and 
Streetscene are liaising with the Coastal Partnership who will 
produce a detailed report on the options (do nothing, repair or 
replace), with cost benefit analyses.  This will take into account 
advice from Natural England on the impacts on species present.  The 
report is expected to be available in June 2021, at which point a 
decision on the preferred approach will be requested from the 
Community Board.

2.15 Fort Brockhurst moat

English Heritage are recruiting volunteers to help with maintenance 
of the moat, in anticipation of opening Fort Brockhurst to the public 
more frequently from spring 2021 (subject to covid-19 restrictions).  
Streetscene enforcement officers will liaise with English Heritage with 
a view to reducing incidents of fly-tipping.

2.16 Elmore Lake

£70k funding has already been allocated within in the current capital 
programme for water retention works to help maintain water levels 
during dry conditions.  However Streetscene are currently evaluating 
the scope of works needed in preparation for starting the 
procurement process, and have identified that possible relocation of 
the fish present (which are believed to be koi carp introduced by local 
residents) may be an alternative to water retention works.  A licence 
from Natural England would be needed for either option, and in the 
case of the relocation option, the destination would need to be 
agreed with Natural England.



2.17 Cockle Pond

Major de-silting work was undertaken in 2015/16 to improve the 
condition of the north pool.  Following this, Streetscene has already 
been working on a capital programme to remove the wall between 
the north and south pools and replace it with a board walk with 
fendering.  Natural England advises that this would improve the 
condition of the lagoon due to increased water flow.

2.18 Saline lagoons survey

Natural England has undertaken updated surveys of the saline 
lagoons within the SSSIs (Alverstoke Lake, Gilkicker Lagoon and 
Cockle Pond), and are preparing a report which is expected to be 
completed in March 2021.  This will update the condition 
assessments shown in Appendix 1 and help identify locations where 
further remedial action might be needed.

2.19 Byelaws for the Seashore

A consultation on an amended version of the Byelaws for the 
Seashore closed on 11th December 2020.  Once the updated 
Byelaws are approved following this consultation, restrictions will 
apply to some activities that could potentially be sources of pollution, 
in the locations covered by the Byelaws.

Additional actions that should be considered

2.20 More extensive water quality monitoring was considered by task and 
finish group members to be an important measure for two reasons.  
Firstly, it will help clarify the cause of any future fish die-off incidents.  
Secondly, it will identify where known possible sources of pollution 
are impacting water quality and increasing vulnerability to future heat 
waves.  This will help ensure that resources for mitigation measures 
are used effectively.

2.21 Appendix 1 identifies two locations (Fort Rowner moat and Fort 
Brockhurst moat) which are fully owned by other bodies that the 
Council would need to request to carry out water monitoring.  For 
other locations, the Environment Agency has advised that the 
Council would need to fund water quality monitoring; this cost will 
depend on the monitoring regimes and locations.



2.22 Some potential monitoring locations (Alverstoke Lake, Fort 
Brockhurst moat, Elmore Lake, Cockle Pond outlets into Haslar Lake, 
and The Ramparts) have been identified by the Task & Finish group.  
Other locations where fish die-off incidents have been observed in 
the past, or which have been assessed as being in unfavourable 
condition, are also likely to be appropriate.  These are identified in 
Appendix 1, but will be updated by the pending Natural England 
report (see paragraph 2.18), and locations to monitor should be 
informed by this.  It is also recommended that research is carried out 
to identify locations of concern for surface water runoff, which could 
be considered for monitoring.

2.23 The Task & Finish group therefore recommends the following 
approach to water quality monitoring:

1. Identify locations for monitoring, with prioritisation, and 
recommended monitoring regimes.

2. Approach relevant bodies to formally request that they carry out 
monitoring.

3. If relevant bodies are unable or unwilling to carry out the 
monitoring, obtain quotes for monitoring based on the 
recommended monitoring regimes.

4. Approve funding for monitoring some or all of these locations, if 
the Board agrees it to be appropriate.

2.24 The Council could actively engage with local interest groups and 
encourage them to help with maintenance of areas of concern and 
with monitoring for any problems.  This is already occurring in some 
locations such as Cockle Pond (see 2.13 above), but there are others 
which could benefit.  For example, Task & Finish group members 
were aware that volunteers had in the past helped with management 
of The Ramparts.

2.25 The Task & Finish group recommends that further actions relating to 
the saline lagoons should be considered only once the report from 
the Environment Agency on Alverstoke Lake and the report from the 
Natural England saline lagoons survey are available, and a sufficient 
period of monitoring has been undertaken to understand the likely 
influence of the possible contributing factors identified in paragraphs 
2.10 to 2.12.

3 Risk Assessment

3.1 Any work undertaken in protected locations (identified in Appendix 1) 
risks impacting species of interest.  To mitigate this risk, all work will 
be carried out in consultation with and with the approval of Natural 
England.



3.2 Water quality monitoring will help to reduce the risk of future 
incidents, ensure that actions taken are appropriate so that 
interventions are carried out effectively and efficiently, and allow the 
outcome of interventions to be monitored.

3.3 Any risks associated with the use of volunteers to help with 
maintenance and monitoring for problems will be addressed in line 
with the Corporate Volunteer Policy.

4 Conclusion

4.1 This report summarises the activity and conclusions of the Task & 
Finish group on contingency plans for aquatic wildlife in the Borough 
and refers this report to Community Board for consideration. 

Financial Services comments: Contained within the body of the report.
Legal Services comments: Contained within the body of the report.
Climate Change: The actions identified in this report will help 

to reduce the impact on aquatic habitats of 
heat waves, which will occur more 
frequently due to climate change.

Crime and Disorder: This report includes actions to reduce anti-
social behaviour, namely fly-tipping.  
Improved maintenance and the use of 
volunteers will help to prevent crime and 
disorder.

Equality and Diversity: Equality and diversity implications of 
involving volunteers will be managed in 
line with the Corporate Volunteer Policy.

Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

Actions identified are already integrated 
into Service Plans.

Corporate Plan: The actions identified in this report will help 
deliver the strategic priorities of responding 
to the challenges of climate change and 
delivering quality services.

Risk Assessment: Low; see section 3 for details.  Failure to 
take the actions identified in this report 
could generate a risk to the Council’s 
ability to maintain the biodiversity and 
amenity value of the Borough’s aquatic 
habitats.

Background papers: None
Appendices/Enclosures:

Appendix 1 Summary of aquatic habitats in Gosport
Appendix 2 Map of aquatic habitats in Gosport

Report author/ Lead Officer: Tim Pratt, 023 9254 5573



APPENDIX 1

Summary of aquatic habitats in Gosport

The table on the following pages provides information about aquatic habitats 
in Gosport, including ownership, the existence of past problems, current 
condition, and existing mitigation plans.

Note that regardless of ownership, the Environment Agency and Natural 
England have statutory responsibilities that apply to most or all of the sites in 
the table below.

The Environment Agency has a statutory responsibility to preserve or improve 
the quality of all inland and coastal waters, and flora and fauna that depend 
on an aquatic environment, to such extent as it considers desirable.  This 
covers all sites listed in the table below.

Natural England is the responsible Statutory Nature Conservation Body for all 
protected areas, and must be consulted before any action is taken that may 
change the condition of these habitats.  Protected areas are identified in the 
description column of the table below, and are those for which a Natural 
England condition assessment is available.  Natural England condition 
assessments reflect the overall condition of the habitat, overall biodiversity, 
and the status of species of interest for the protected area.  An updated 
condition assessment has recently been carried out covering Stoke Lake and 
Gilkicker Lagoon, with the report expected in March 2021.

In addition, the Queen’s Harbourmaster has authority over the use of all water 
with the Dockyard Port of Portsmouth, as defined by the Dockyard Port of 
Portsmouth Order 2005.  This includes all tidal waters north of Stokes Bay (as 
far as the mean high water line).



NE condition assessment
Location Wards Description Ownership

Known 
fish die-
off 
incidents

Last 
assessed Condition

Mitigation plans 
already in place Notes

Alver river

Alverstoke
Lee East
Grange
Rowner and 
Holbrook

River
Various with 
some parts 
owned by GBC

n/a EA carry out monitoring 
at Privett Road

Alverstoke 
Lake
(aka Little 
Anglesey 
Lagoon/Alver 
Creek 
(western 
end)/Stoke 
Lake 
(western 
end))

Anglesey

Portsmouth harbour 
inlet (off Haslar 
Lake), behind weir 
and sluice gate; 
part of Portsmouth 
Harbour SSSI, 
Ramsar site and 
SPA

Foreshore and 
bed owned by 
Crown
GBC owns weir 
and sluice gate

Yes 17/5/17 Unfavourable – 
no change None

Sluice gate is not 
operational; Coastal 
Partnership producing 
report on options for 
repair or replacement.
Increased numbers of 
horses in adjacent 
paddock, debris from 
adjacent properties 
burning garden waste by 
water’s edge, and 
increased recreational 
use of the lake, have 
potential to impact water 
quality.

Gilkicker 
Lagoon Anglesey

Saltwater lagoon off 
Solent, with sluice 
gate; SSSI, and 
part of Solent & 
Southampton 
Water Ramsar site 
and Solent & Isle of 
Wight Lagoons 
SAC

Owned by GBC Yes 7/12/10 Favourable

Southern Water 
assist with sluice 
gate opening as 
needed.

Golf club has rights to 
play over lagoons and to 
manage water level, in 
consultation with GBC.



Location Wards Description Ownership
Known 
fish die-
off 
incidents

NE condition assessment
Mitigation plans 
already in place NotesLast 

assessed Condition

Haslar Lake 
& areas of 
Stoke Lake 
and 
Workhouse 
Lake not 
covered 
elsewhere

Anglesey
Town

Portsmouth 
Harbour inlet, fully 
tidal, with surface 
water outlets; part 
of Portsmouth 
Harbour SSSI, 
Ramsar site and 
SPA

Foreshore and 
bed owned by 
Crown

19/9/18 Unfavourable – 
no change

Narrow inlet behind 
Haslar Marina frequently 
traps rubbish.

Haslar 
Marina

Anglesey
Town

Part of Portsmouth 
Harbour, mostly 
consisting of 
marina; includes 
part of Portsmouth 
Harbour SSSI and 
Ramsar site

Foreshore and 
bed owned by 
Crown
Moorings 
owned by 
Crown via 
Queen’s 
Harbourmaster

11/8/10 Destroyed

Fort Rowner 
moat Brockhurst Isolated moat, fresh 

water MoD n/a

Weevil Lake Christchurch
Portsmouth 
Harbour inlet, fully 
tidal

Foreshore and 
bed owned by 
Crown

n/a

Forton Lake Christchurch
Hardway

Portsmouth 
Harbour inlet (off 
Weevil Lake), fully 
tidal; part of 
Portsmouth 
Harbour SSSI, 
Ramsar site and 
SPA

Foreshore and 
bed owned by 
Crown

19/9/18

East of 
Millenium 
Bridge: 
Favourable
West of 
Millenium 
Bridge: 
Unfavourable - 
recovering



Location Wards Description Ownership
Known 
fish die-
off 
incidents

NE condition assessment
Mitigation plans 
already in place NotesLast 

assessed Condition

Fort 
Brockhurst 
moat

Elson Isolated moat, fresh 
water

English 
Heritage Yes n/a None

Increased opening 
frequency and help from 
local interest groups 
expected to improve 
maintenance and reduce 
fly-tipping problem in 
future.

Elmore Lake Lee West Isolated balancing 
pond, fresh water

One bank 
owned by 
several private 
properties 
(remainder 
owned by 
GBC)

Yes n/a None

£70k funding allocated 
in Capital programme for 
water retention works; 
Streetscene also 
investigating possibility 
of relocating fish.



Location Wards Description Ownership
Known 
fish die-
off 
incidents

NE condition assessment
Mitigation plans 
already in place NotesLast 

assessed Condition

Cockle Pond
(aka Walpole 
Park boating 
lake)

Town

Two artificial 
boating ponds on 
site of Portsmouth 
harbour inlet (off 
Haslar Lake), 
behind sluice gate 
with overflow pipe 
into Haslar Marina; 
part of Portsmouth 
Harbour SSSI, 
Ramsar site and 
SPA

Owned by GBC 24/3/14 Unfavourable - 
declining

Streetscene 
manages sluice 
gates with regular 
flushing and annual 
draindown and clean, 
and also carries out 
regular weed cutting.  
Anti-algae dosing 
carried and regular 
water quality 
readings carried out 
by model boat club 
with support of 
Streetscene.  All 
management is in 
liaison with and 
under licence by 
Natural England 
(licence renewed 
annually).

Model boat club has 
rights to use southern 
pond.  Condition of north 
pool was considerably 
worse than south pool, 
but has now been 
improved by extensive 
de-silting work.  In 
consultation with Natural 
England, Streetscene 
are now working on a 
capital programme to 
remove the wall 
between the north and 
south pools, which 
Natural England advise 
would improve the 
condition of the lagoon 
due to increased water 
flow.

Gosport 
Marina Town

Part of Portsmouth 
Harbour, mostly 
consisting of 
marina

Foreshore and 
bed owned by 
Crown

n/a

The 
Ramparts
(aka No. 1 
Battery/
Bastion 
No. 1)

Town
Portsmouth harbour 
inlet, behind sluice 
gate

Owned by GBC Yes n/a
Sluice gates regularly 
opened; managed by 
Streetscene.



Location Wards Description Ownership
Known 
fish die-
off 
incidents

NE condition assessment
Mitigation plans 
already in place NotesLast 

assessed Condition

Workhouse 
Lake 
(western 
end)

Town

Portsmouth 
Harbour inlet (off 
Haslar Lake), fully 
tidal, with several 
surface outlets and 
Southern Water 
pumping station at 
western end; part of 
Portsmouth 
Harbour SSSI, 
Ramsar site and 
SPA

Foreshore and 
bed owned by 
Crown

19/9/18 Favourable

Sluice gate 
permanently open
Monitored for 
problems by 
residents



APPENDIX 2

Map of aquatic habitats in Gosport

See following pages for an enlarged version of this map.



11

2

3



12

1

4



3 4

5

1



43

6

2



5

6

3



ii
6

5

4



Board/Committee: Climate Change Board
Date of Meeting: 11th March 2021
Title: Proposals for key engagement activities

Author: Julie Petty, Head of Corporate Policy and Community 
Safety

Status: For approval

Purpose

To set out proposals for implementing the key engagement activities identified 
in the Climate Change Community Engagement Framework, for consideration 
and approval by the Board.

Recommendation

That the Board considers the proposals set out in this report and if 
appropriate:

1. Approves establishment of a Climate Change Partnership (para 2.1-2.5 
and Appendix 1 and 2).

2. Provides guidance on the Board’s requirements for a Citizens 
Assembly (question, themes, size and oversight). This will enable a 
more detailed report with a proposed methodology and costings to be 
presented to this Board for consideration (para 2.6-2.16 and Appendix 
3).

3. Approves the specific youth engagement activity via a focus group and 
survey (para 2.17-2.23).

1 Background

1.1 A Climate Change Community Engagement Framework was agreed 
at the Climate Change Board meeting on 21st January 2021.

1.2 As well as setting out general principles for all engagement work, the 
Framework identifies three key activities that would be needed to 
deliver the community engagement elements of the Climate Change 
Motion passed on 4th March 2020:

1. Establish a Climate Change Partnership.
2. Run a Citizens’ Assembly.
3. Provide engagement activities specifically for young people.

1.3 This report sets out proposals for implementing each of these three 
key activities and specifically seeks the Board’s view in respect of an 
approach for a Citizens Assembly to enable a more detailed report 
with methodology and costing to be produced.

Agenda Item 8



2 Report

Climate Change Partnership

2.1 As described in Appendix 1, the Climate Change Partnership will be 
a forum bringing together a broad range of stakeholders to share 
ideas and best practice, and offer a “sounding board” to the Council 
and other organisations, on actions to address climate change.  
Membership of the Partnership will be open to all organisations 
based in Gosport, or which have an interest in activities taking place 
in Gosport.  The work of the Partnership will be coordinated by a 
Steering Group comprised of representatives from member 
organisations, as set out in the draft Terms of Reference in Appendix 
2.

2.2 If Members agree this proposed approach set out in Appendices 1 
and 2, the next steps will be progressed:

1. Invite initial organisations to join the Partnership, covering the 
stakeholder groups listed in Appendix 1.  At the same time, solicit 
offers for people to sit on and (if appropriate) chair the Partnership 
Steering Group.

2. Identify and appoint the initial Partnership Steering Group 
members, aiming to make the Steering Group as representative 
as possible whilst balancing its size.

3. Organise the initial Steering Group meeting, which would cover, 
as a minimum, appointment of the Chairperson, agreement of 
operational processes (including wider promotion of the 
Partnership), and identification of possible work streams.  The 
Council’s Climate Change Board representative on the Steering 
Group would chair this initial meeting up to the point at which the 
Steering Group Chairperson was appointed.

2.3 Given the importance of having as wide a range of representation on 
the Partnership as possible and the time that may be required to 
recruit Partnership and Steering Group members, it is proposed that 
the Council should aim for the first Steering Group meeting to take 
place in April/May 2021.

2.4 Following its initial meeting, the Partnership Steering Group will be 
responsible for arranging subsequent meetings, initiating and 
managing work streams, and handling appointment/election of 
Steering Group members and Chairperson.  Council officer resource 
will be used to assist the Chairperson as required to ensure the 
Steering Group carries out these functions as effectively as possible, 
and to ensure that all Steering Group activities are covid-secure.



2.5 Some suggested work streams for the Partnership to undertake will 
be provided, to be discussed in the initial meeting of the Partnership 
Steering Group.  The aim of this is to assist the discussions and it is 
not proposed that the Council has any more weight than other 
Partnership members in deciding which streams will be initiated.  At 
this stage, the following potential work streams have been identified; 
further suggestions from Members are welcome.

 Developing a brand identity, so that Partnership members can use 
a logo on their communications to promote the fact that they are 
supporting this initiative.

 Developing an overall strategy for reducing emissions across 
Gosport.

 Identifying measures to increase the recycling rate in Gosport 
(including feeding in to Hampshire County Council’s review of 
disposal methods and whole system approaches, currently 
expected to start in 2022).

 Assisting with oversight for a Citizens’ Assembly or Citizen’s Jury 
(see paragraph 2.13 below) if commissioned.

Citizens’ Assembly

2.6 The Climate Change Motion passed on 4th March 2020 included the 
delivery of a Citizens’ Assembly to consider each area of the 
Council’s activities.  

2.7 A ‘Citizens Assembly’ (also known as Citizens’ Jury) is a body formed 
from citizens to deliberate on an issue or issues of local, national or 
international importance. 

Citizens’ Assemblies and Juries only vary in the number of 
participants (typically 20 – 40 for a Citizens’ Jury and 40 – 150 for a 
Citizens’ Assembly) so for the purpose of this report the term 
Citizen’s Assembly is used.

2.8 It is important that a Citizens’ Assembly delivers value for money: its 
recommendations must lead to action that achieves effective climate 
change mitigation and adaptation. The use of its outputs should be 
defined at the outset, both to ensure value for money and to avoid it 
leading to disillusionment if recommendations are perceived to have 
been ignored.  Its recommendations should feed into climate change 
strategies or action plans, or be presented to a decision making body 
within the Council (see Appendix 3 for examples).  It is proposed that 
the Council follows both approaches.



2.9 Where Local Authorities recognise actionable recommendations are 
beyond their scope, these can be presented to the appropriate 
organisation or sector for consideration, and for sectors it is proposed 
that this is done via the Climate Change Partnership.

2.10 Citizens’ Assemblies are usually given an overarching question or 
questions to deliberate.  As shown in Appendix 3, the majority of 
Climate Assemblies have posed broad, open-ended questions(s), 
and this is the recommended approach to avoid the framing of the 
question(s) excluding some topics, perspectives or voices.

2.11 The Climate Change Motion specified that the Citizens’ Assembly 
should consider the climate change impact of each area of the 
Council’s activities, and so the question will need to cover actions 
that the Council should take.

2.12 Several Citizens’ Assemblies (e.g. Brent) have used questions 
intended to emphasise the shared responsibility to respond to the 
challenge of climate change, with individuals, businesses and other 
organisations all needing to make changes, as well as the Council.  
This would help to build a sense of shared purpose, encouraging 
action across the community and therefore reflect the community 
leadership element of the Council’s role.

2.13 Based on examples from other local authorities, the following 
question may be appropriate: “How can the Council and local 
residents and organisations work together to limit climate change and 
its impacts in a way that is fair and that protects and enhances our 
environment, health and wellbeing?”  The themes used to address 
the overarching question are often specified and could correspond to 
key Council service areas. An indication on the question and themes 
is sought from the Board to inform a likely methodology and costing.

2.14 A key feature of Citizens’ Assemblies is an independent oversight 
panel, with a remit of ensuring that the Assembly’s design and 
delivery is fair and robust, so that the Assembly’s recommendations 
can be trusted as being the result of an impartial and balanced 
process.  A working group of the Climate Change Partnership could 
be well suited to provide the oversight panel and the Board’s view on 
this is sought.

2.15 Partnership members may also wish to contribute towards costs or 
source funding for a Citizens Assembly; however it would be 
pragmatic for the Council to commit to fund the whole process.



2.16 Indicative costs are that large-scale Citizens’ Assemblies (50 or more 
participants) are likely to cost £80,000 or more, with smaller Citizens’ 
Juries (20 to 30 participants) deliverable for approximately £30,000. 
Typically, Citizens Assemblies are made up of between 40 and 150 
participants (Camden and Oxford were both 50 strong and Newham 
was 36). Citizens Juries in the UK are typically made up of between 
20 and 40 people. In the absence of hard evidence on whether a 
larger citizen assembly has more policy impact than a smaller jury, 
the commissioners should be pragmatic. Considering firstly what 
numbers are required for it to have local legitimacy, and secondly the 
size of the available budget. The Board’s view on the size of the 
Panel is sought.

Engagement activities specifically for young people

2.17 The Board has indicated is particularly keen to provide specific 
engagement activities for young people which will complement other 
engagement mechanisms which young people will be able to access.

2.18  A Climate Change workshop that was originally planned as part of 
the summer passport 2020 activities, but was postponed as a result 
of covid-19, is now likely to be delivered via schools.  In addition a 
member of Youth Strike for Climate has provided a draft survey 
suggesting it could be promoted by schools to seek opinions of 
young people in the Borough.

2.19 It is proposed to link these two activities.  The workshop would be 
delivered first and would in part be used to explore the kinds of 
activities participants would like to take part in.  The survey would 
then be redesigned with two sections: preferences for activities and 
preferences for methods of engagement.  The preferences for 
activities section would be informed by the workshop, and the survey 
as a whole would be designed in collaboration with the author of the 
original draft and any workshop participants who wished to be 
involved.

2.20 The timing of these activities will be need to be sensitive to 
restrictions and processes that schools will need to manage in 
relation to covid-19.  There is ongoing dialogue on this, which will 
continue to be maintained and will appreciate that some flexibility in 
the proposed approach may be appropriate.

2.21 The survey would be delivered using the Council’s Survey Monkey 
account, and schools and other youth groups or clubs would be 
requested to promote it.

2.22 Further engagement activities for young people would then be 
designed based on the survey results.



2.23 It can be seen in Appendix 3 that some local authorities ran a “Youth 
Climate Assembly” in parallel to their Citizens’ Assembly.  This could 
be a very low cost engagement activity as it would not follow the 
standard Citizens’ Assembly methodology, but would ensure young 
people’s voices were heard on the issues being considered by the 
Citizens’ Assembly.  This option will be explored further following the 
survey if it seems appropriate based on the survey results and timing 
of any Assembly.  Any such proposals would be brought to the 
Climate Change Board for consideration.

3 Risk Assessment

3.1 All engagement activities carry a risk of leading to disillusionment and 
disengagement if participants perceive that their input is ignored.  To 
mitigate this risk, communications around engagement activities will 
be designed both to manage expectations and to keep participants 
informed of the impact they have had following the activity, as set out 
in the Climate Change Community Engagement Framework.

3.2 Delivery of dedicated engagement activities for young people and the 
use of a Citizens’ Assembly/Jury which recruits participants to be 
representative of the Borough, will help to mitigate the risk of 
excluding stakeholders who are less able to make their voice heard.

4 Conclusion

4.1 This report has set out proposals for delivering Climate Change 
Engagement elements and seeks Member approval and views.

Financial Services comments: Contained within the body of the report.
Legal Services comments: Contained within the body of the report.
Climate Change: The measures set out in this report will 

contribute to delivery of items 5, 6 and 7 of 
the Climate Change Motion passed on 4th 
March 2020.

Crime and Disorder: N/A
Equality and Diversity: The engagement activities described in 

this report will be implemented with due 
regard to the public sector equality duty 
contained in Section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010.  They will follow the Climate 
Change Community Engagement 
Framework, which specifies that particular 
effort should be made to support 
stakeholders who might otherwise struggle 
to participate fully or have an equal voice 
in engagement activities, to ensure that 
engagement processes are inclusive.

Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

Actions required are already integrated into 
Service Plans.



Corporate Plan: The engagement activities described in 
this report will help deliver the strategic 
priorities of responding to the challenges of 
climate change, strengthening community 
cohesion, improving social inclusion and 
delivering quality services.

Risk Assessment: Medium; see section 3 for details.
Background papers: Climate Change Community Engagement 

Framework
Appendices/Enclosures:

Appendix 1 Proposed approach for establishing 
Climate Change Partnership

Appendix 2 Draft Terms of Reference and background 
information to be sent to potential Climate 
Change Partnership members

Appendix 3 Summary of Citizens’ Assemblies on 
climate change delivered by other local 
authorities

Report author/ Lead Officer: Tim Pratt, 023 9254 5573



APPENDIX 1

Proposed approach for establishing Climate Change 
Partnership

Background

The establishment of an independent Gosport Climate Change Partnership is 
an integral part of the Council’s Climate Change Community Engagement 
Framework, bringing together representatives from a broad spectrum of 
organisations and groups in the Borough, keen to work together on tackling 
the impacts of climate change.

Partnership aims

The Partnership has two main aims:

 To be a forum for the exchange of ideas and best practices to reduce 
emissions and adapt to climate change across organisations and within 
the community, and to inspire climate action across the Borough and 
with its local authority neighbours.

 To offer a “sounding board” to the Council and to other organisations 
across the Borough with respect to their efforts to reduce carbon 
emissions and adapt to climate change.

Partnership structure

Organisations based in Gosport, or which have an interest in activities taking 
place in Gosport, will be invited to become members of the Partnership, with 
the aim of achieving as wide a membership as possible.  The Partnership will 
be coordinated by a Steering Group, with a Chairperson appointed for a fixed 
term by Steering Group members.

Membership of the Steering Group will be comprised of representatives from 
member organisations from a broad range of stakeholder groups including:

 Borough Council
 Large businesses
 Small businesses or business forum
 Ministry of Defence local establishment
 Colleges and schools



 Youth clubs and uniformed groups
 Resident and housing associations
 Environmental groups
 Faith groups

It is anticipated that the Partnership Steering Group will agree initial Terms of 
Reference, appoint a Chairperson and review these at least annually. Meeting 
and contact arrangements will also be agreed by the Steering Group, but will 
include:

 Use of online forum and tools to facilitate discussion and sharing of 
documents.

 Regular meetings1 to discuss and agree actions and to coordinate the 
Partnership’s activities.

 Establishment of working groups to undertake activity on specific 
topics, or coordinate specific actions.

Council representation and support

It is envisioned that one member of the Council’s Climate Change Board and 
its Climate Change Officer represent the Council regularly on the Partnership 
Steering Group. Other Council officers may be invited to present information 
or provide updates from across Council activities at the Steering Group’s 
request or participate in any working groups that the Steering Group may 
establish.

The Council will dedicate officer resource to support the establishment and 
coordination of the Partnership Steering Group and its activities and assist the 
Chairperson.

1 This may be virtual



APPENDIX 2

Draft Terms of Reference and background information 
to be sent to potential Climate Change Partnership 

members

Background

The climate is changing on a scale and at a pace that needs urgent action to 
reduce carbon emissions, mitigate the impact and adapt.  Everyone has a role 
to play in addressing climate change.

The establishment of an independent Gosport Climate Change Partnership 
establishes a central hub to drive and coordinate our collective local response 
by bringing together a broad spectrum of stakeholder organisations in the 
Borough keen to work together on tackling the impacts of climate change.

While the Borough Council has set itself a target for achieving carbon 
neutrality for its own operations by 2050, it also wants to work with all sections 
of the community to achieve the goal of carbon neutrality across Gosport by 
2050.

Progress will require changes in collective and individual behaviours, but 
working in partnership will empower everyone to take this work forward.  In 
meeting the challenge that a changing climate may bring, many of the 
measures to mitigate and adapt may offer multiple benefits and opportunities 
for Gosport residents and businesses - for example improved air quality, 
enhanced green spaces, better health and wellbeing, greater resilience, 
infrastructure incorporating modern and more efficient technology, reduced 
fuel bills, and the creation of a more sustainable future.

Terms of Reference

These terms of reference are draft and for consideration at the initial 
establishment of the Partnership for review and amendment by the Steering 
Group as deemed appropriate.



Aims

1. To be a forum for the exchange of ideas and best practices to reduce 
emissions and adapt to climate change across organisations and within 
the community, and to inspire climate action across the Borough and with 
its local authority neighbours.

2. To offer a “sounding board” to the Council and to other organisations 
across the Borough with respect to their efforts to reduce carbon 
emissions and adapt to climate change.

Objectives

1. To drive and coordinate a Borough wide response to climate change from 
a central hub by bringing together the views, expertise and commitment of 
representatives from a broad spectrum of stakeholders.

2. To be an independent voluntary partnership that can pursue its own 
actions, establish sub-groups to undertake ongoing areas of work or set up 
“Task and Finish” working groups as needed.

3. Champion an inclusive approach to climate action in Gosport by promoting 
actions within the private, public and third sectors, academia, and in all 
communities to engage and inspire residents, businesses and visitors.

4. Secure the resources required to enable the Steering Group to fully realise 
its aims and objectives, including through funding applications to external 
bodies.

Membership, membership terms and recruitment

Steering Group

The Partnership will be coordinated by a Steering Group, with a Chairperson 
appointed for a fixed term by Steering Group members.  Steering Group 
members are representing their sectors, communities of place or interest, not 
their sole interests on the Steering Group, in order to facilitate the widest 
understanding of issues and approaches to climate change while keeping the 
Steering Group a workable size.  Other representatives from Partnership 
member organisations or external representatives can be invited to attend 
Steering Group meetings as non-voting guests if approved by the Steering 
Group.



Membership of the Steering Group will be comprised of individuals from 
Partnership member organisations, representing each of the following 
stakeholder groups:

 Borough Council
 Large businesses
 Small businesses or business forum
 Ministry of Defence local establishment
 Colleges and schools
 Youth clubs and uniformed groups
 Resident and housing associations
 Environmental groups
 Faith groups

The Steering Group can decide the meeting and contact arrangements will 
also be agreed by the Steering Group, but will include:

 Use of online forum and tools to facilitate discussion and sharing of 
documents.

 Regular meetings to discuss and agree actions and to coordinate the 
Partnership’s activities.  Frequency of meetings to be agreed by the 
Steering Group.

 Establishment of working groups and Task and Finish groups to 
undertake activity on specific topics, or coordinate specific actions.

Working groups / Task and Finish

The Steering Group can establish ongoing sub-groups to undertake activity on 
specific topics, or coordinate specific actions or create one-off Task and 
Finish working groups to progress discrete areas of work. Working groups can 
invite non-Steering Group members to join them, as required, if they offer a 
particular skill, experience, knowledge or position that would enable the sub-
group to successfully complete its task(s).

Decision making, quorum and meetings

Each Steering Group member has equal weight in decision-making matters. 
Where a majority has not been reached the Chairperson shall make the 
ultimate decision. The quorum for meetings is three-fifths. Where a quorum is 
not present Steering Group meetings can proceed and make decisions in 
principle, for ratification by all members, via email or other online tool.

The Steering Group can meet at a frequency of its choosing, but would 
normally meet on a quarterly basis with meetings of any sub-groups, Task 
and Finish groups occurring between meetings as required.



Key notes regarding actions and decisions from the meetings should be 
recorded and communicated to Steering Group and Partnership members for 
sharing as relevant within their organisations and networks and available to 
members of the public.

Partnership membership

Any organisation can apply to the Steering Group to become a Partnership 
Member.  Conditions for membership will be established and agreed by the 
Steering Group, and membership can be approved by the Steering Group 
Chairperson provided these conditions are satisfied.  The Steering Group will 
be responsible for continuing to engage with the community to encourage 
wider membership.

Membership of the Partnership lasts indefinitely, unless terminated either by 
the Partnership Member or by the Steering Group.  The Steering Group can 
only terminate membership if it agrees that the organisation has breached the 
conditions for membership.

Partnership members will receive Steering Group minutes and regular 
updates on Steering Group, working group and Task and Finish group 
activities.  They will also have access to Steering Group members, to feed 
suggestions and comments into Steering Group meetings.

Partnership members will be able to offer individuals to sit on working groups 
and Task and Finish groups, to be agreed by the Steering Group.  They will 
also be able to offer candidates to sit on the Steering Group, with the term 
length and process of appointing candidates to be defined by the Steering 
Group.

Partnership members may be requested by the Steering Group and by 
working groups and Task and Finish Groups to help with funding or other 
resources from time to time.  However, the conditions for membership agreed 
by the Steering Group may not insist on members providing such support.



APPENDIX 3

Summary of Citizens’ Assemblies on climate change delivered by other local authorities

The table below lists some examples of Citizens’ Assemblies, Citizens’ Juries or equivalent that have been delivered by other local 
authorities on climate change.  This is a selective list intended to give an indication of the range of approaches that have been used 
elsewhere.

LA, type of activity, 
number of participants, 
duration, cost, provider

Advisory group/steering group/oversight panel Question(s) posed Handling of output Other information

 Blaenau Gwent 
Borough Council

 Assembly
 50 people
 2 weekends (20 hours)
 No cost information
 Consortium of Council, 

housing associations, 
sustainable 
development charity 
and Electoral Reform 
Society (selection by 
Sortition Foundation)

17 organisations
 Universities (ABC Swansea, Cardiff, 

Manchester, Centre for Climate Change and 
Social Transformation)

 Council
 Government body (Natural Resources Wales)
 Environmental organisations (Carbon Literacy 

Cymru, Cynnal Cymru)
 Expert organisations (Electoral Reform Society, 

Digital Public Service Board)
 Other voluntary organisations (NEA Wales)
 CIC (Green Valleys Wales)
 Housing associations (Linc Cymru, Melin 

Homes, Tai Calon, United Welsh)

What should we do in 
Blaenau Gwent to 
tackle the climate crisis 
in a way that is fair and 
improves living 
standards for 
everyone?

Recommendations will 
feed into Council’s 
climate change 
strategy and housing 
associations’ climate 
plans, will be sent to 
Welsh government, 
and will be discussed 
with community 
groups to help citizens 
shape local plans

https://www.cynnalcymr
u.com/blaenau-gwent-
climate-assembly/

https://www.cynnalcymru.com/blaenau-gwent-climate-assembly/
https://www.cynnalcymru.com/blaenau-gwent-climate-assembly/
https://www.cynnalcymru.com/blaenau-gwent-climate-assembly/


LA, type of activity, 
number of participants, 
duration, cost, provider

Advisory group/steering group/oversight panel Question(s) posed Handling of output Other information

 Brent Borough Council
 Assembly
 55 people
 3 full days (15 hours)
 No cost information 

found
 Traverse

Convened by Traverse
3 people
 Director of Environmental Sustainability, UCL 

Estates
 Deputy Director, Association for Decentralised 

Energy
 Co-director, Sortition Foundation

How can we work 
together to limit climate 
change and its impact 
while protecting our 
environment, our health 
and our wellbeing?  
Consider the Council, 
businesses and 
organisations, 
individuals.

No information found

Commonplace 
microsite set up to allow 
residents to feed in 
views to assembly

 Brighton & Hove City 
Council

 Assembly
 50 people
 5 online sessions
 No cost information 

found
 Ipsos Mori (recruitment 

by Sortition Foundation)

Established by Ipsos Mori
16 people
 4 campaign group representatives (TAN, 

Involve, Extinction Rebellion, Youth Strike 4 
Climate)

 6 academics (Sussex, ICL, Brighton)
 3 councillors (Labour, Green, Conservative)
 1 officer
 1 special interest body representative (RAC)
 1 business forum representative (Brighton & 

Hove Economic Partnership)
Explicit statement that members were present in a 
personal capacity and did not represent their 
organisations

No information found

Report presented to 
Environment, 
Transport & 
Sustainability 
Committee, with 
recommendation that 
findings feed into LTP, 
LCWIP, further 
development of 
Liveable City Centre 
and Ultra Low 
Emission Zone 
schemes, and 2030 
Carbon Neutral Plan

https://www.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/brighton-
hove-climate-assembly
Parallel Youth Climate 
Assembly (13 – 19/25 if 
special educational 
needs and disability or 
care leaver) established 
and delivered by young 
people 
(https://www.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/climate-
change/young-peoples-
action-climate)

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/brighton-hove-climate-assembly
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/brighton-hove-climate-assembly
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/brighton-hove-climate-assembly
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/climate-change/young-peoples-action-climate
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/climate-change/young-peoples-action-climate
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/climate-change/young-peoples-action-climate
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/climate-change/young-peoples-action-climate


LA, type of activity, 
number of participants, 
duration, cost, provider

Advisory group/steering group/oversight panel Question(s) posed Handling of output Other information

 Kendal Town Council
 Jury
 20 people
 10 sessions
 No cost information 

found
 Shared Future

16 organisations
 Town, District and County councillors and 

officers
 Local MP
 South Cumbria Flood Partnership
 Environmental groups (Cumbria Action for 

Sustainability, KASTLE, Extinction Rebellion)
 Political groups (Labour party)
 Business groups (Kendal Futures, Kendal BID)
 Businesses (James Cropper, Designworks)
 Community organisations (Frieda Scott 

Charitable Trust)
 Unions (NFU)
 Universities (Lancaster)

What should Kendal do 
about climate change?

Recommendations 
presented to Full 
Council meeting and 
Council committed to 
explaining within 3 
months how they will 
respond to or act on 
each point.
Organisations 
represented by 
oversight panel 
members also asked 
to say how they would 
action 
recommendations.

https://www.kendalclim
atejury.org/
Funded by South 
Lakeland District 
Council, Cumbria 
County Council and 
crowdfunding (£6k 
raised) as well as 
Kendal Town Council

 Lambeth Borough
 Assembly
 No size information 

found
 No duration information 

found
 £85k budgeted
 Traverse

 Councillors
 Youth Councillors
 Environmental groups
 Faith community
 TfL
 Large organisations (Guy’s and St Thomas’)
 Universities (London Southbank University, 

King’s College)

No information found No information found

https://www.kendalclimatejury.org/
https://www.kendalclimatejury.org/


LA, type of activity, 
number of participants, 
duration, cost, provider

Advisory group/steering group/oversight panel Question(s) posed Handling of output Other information

 Newham Borough 
Council

 Assembly
 43 people
 3 evenings + 1 

weekend (25.5 hours)
 No cost information 

found
 Mutual Gain (selection 

by Sortition Foundation)

5 people
 Community and voluntary organisations network
 Civil society organisation
 Environmental movement
 University
 Interfaith network

How can the Council 
and residents work 
together to reach the 
aspiration of being 
carbon zero by 2050 at 
the latest?

Recommendations fed 
into climate action 
plan

Question was 
determined with input 
from Council officers
Parallel Youth Climate 
Assembly

 North of Tyne 
Combined Authority

 Assembly
 50 people
 ~30 hours
 £80k budgeted
 Shared Future

12 members
 Officers (NTCA, Newcastle City, North Tyneside, 

Northumberland County)
 Experts (Newcastle University)
 Businesses (Newcastle Futures)
 Business groups (NE Chamber of Commerce)
 Unions (National Education Union)
 Voluntary organisations (Tyne & Wear Citizens)
 Environmental groups (Extinction Rebellion)

What should we do in 
the region to address 
climate change and its 
causes fairly, effectively 
and quickly?

Recommendations 
presented to Cabinet 
for consideration

Question set by NTCA



LA, type of activity, 
number of participants, 
duration, cost, provider

Advisory group/steering group/oversight panel Question(s) posed Handling of output Other information

 Oxford City Council
 Assembly
 50 people
 2 full weekends
 > £100k
 Ipsos Mori

13 people
 1 councillor from each main political party
 3 academics (2 from Oxford, 1 from UCL)
 2 industry representatives (both from same 

construction company)
 2 campaign group representatives (Extinction 

Rebellion, Citizens Assembly Network)
 2 community organisation representatives (East 

Oxford FC, theatre company)
Chaired by Council leader

The UK Government 
has legislation to reach 
‘net zero’ carbon by 
2050.  Should Oxford 
be more proactive and 
seek to achieve ’net 
zero’ sooner than 2050 
and what trade-offs are 
we prepared to make?

No information found



Board/Committee: Climate Change Board
Date of Meeting: 11/3/2021
Title: Climate Change Action Plan progress update

Author: Julie Petty, Head of Corporate Policy and Community 
Safety

Status: For approval

Purpose

This report sets out the progress that has been achieved against the Climate 
Change Action Plan that was approved at the Climate Change Board meeting 
of 17th September 2020.

Recommendation

That the Board notes this progress update and approve the updated version 
of the action plan presented in Appendix 1.

1 Background

1.1 The Council approved a Climate Change Strategy on 5th February 
2020 and the development of an associated action plan to facilitate 
its delivery.

1.2 The first version of the action plan was approved at the Climate 
Change Board meeting of 17th September 2020.

1.3 The strategy states that an action plan will be produced annually; 
however an interim update that provides progress information and 
updates target completion dates as necessary is seen as useful to 
keep members informed of progress.

1.4 Changes to the items included in the action plan will be addressed in 
the annual review of the action plan and are not in scope for this 
update.

2 Report

2.1 Progress against the Climate Change Action Plan has been reviewed 
and is shown in Appendix 1.  Comments have been added to provide 
progress updates and revised completion dates have been given 
where appropriate.

2.2 While some good progress has been made, the impacts of covid-19 
have delayed several items on the action plan.

Agenda Item 9



2.3 Of the ten items with an original completion date on or before 
31/1/2021:

 One has been completed (use of green electricity in operational 
buildings).

 Six have been given a revised target date to reflect delays due to 
covid-19 (reduce energy use in operational buildings through 
behaviour change; Gosport Leisure Centre solar PV; more 
effective and reduced business travel; reduce use of bottle fed 
water coolers and plastic cups; staff based working group to 
reduce GBC carbon footprint; actively promote refill scheme for 
water bottles).

 The remaining three have been given a revised target date for 
other reasons (training plan for councillors and staff; climate 
change impact assessment process; Ecosia search engine).  In 
these cases, the relevant process has been developed and is 
awaiting approval.

2.4 Good progress has also been made on several of the items with later 
completion dates, although none of these are complete yet:

 Item 7 (review options for electric vehicles): this was the subject of 
an update to the Climate Change Board on 21st January 2021, 
and will be considered complete once fleet vehicles have been 
procured.  However, the scope for procuring/leasing electric 
vehicles was more limited than had been hoped, and so it is 
anticipated that this will be revisited in 2025 with a view to 
expanding the use of electric vehicles.

 Item 11 (develop green travel plan for staff): the Council has been 
working with Sustrans, who are currently preparing an active 
travel plan.

 Item 17 (support Greening Campaign): the sign-up process has 
been agreed with the Greening Campaign and the Council has 
been promoting this widely since 3rd February 2021.

 Item 18 (promotion of energy efficiency offers and advice for 
homes): A Switched on Gosport website is being created in 
collaboration with Portsmouth City Council, using funding from the 
Local Authority Delivery Scheme.  This is expected to be live from 
mid-February.

3 Risk Assessment

3.1 Some items on the Climate Change Action Plan require funding 
which will be sourced at development stage.  Delivery of these items 
may be at risk if funding is not available.



4 Conclusion

4.1 An updated version of the Climate Change Action Plan is presented 
in Appendix 1, to show progress and revise target completion dates 
where appropriate.  This will continue to be monitored and updated 
as appropriate.

Financial Services comments: Contained within the body of the report.
Legal Services comments: Contained within the body of the report.
Climate Change: Delivery of the items on the Climate 

Change Action Plan will contribute to the 
targets set out in the Climate Change 
Strategy.

Crime and Disorder: None
Equality and Diversity: All items in the Climate Change Action 

Plan will be implemented with due regard 
to the public sector equality duty contained 
in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

Actions required are already integrated into 
Service Plans.

Corporate Plan: Monitoring progress on delivering the 
Climate Change Action Plan will help 
deliver the strategic priorities of responding 
to the challenges of climate change and 
delivering quality services.

Risk Assessment: See section 3 above.
Background papers: None
Appendices/Enclosures:

Appendix 1 Updated version of Climate Change Action 
Plan

Report author/ Lead Officer: Tim Pratt, 023 9254 5573



APPENDIX 1

Updated version of Climate Change Action Plan

Reduce carbon emissions from GBC electricity and gas use

Action Lead Officer Cost/impact Start date Completion 
date Comments

1

Develop plan to improve energy 
efficiency in operational buildings initially 
via a communal rewiring, wall insulation 
and low energy led approaches. 

Head of Housing 01/06/2020 TBC

2

Consider opportunities to reduce GBC 
street lighting energy use (note: review 
scale of consumption as this may not be a 
high impact/priority area).

Head of 
Housing/Head 
of StreetScene 

01/01/2021 31/03/2021

3
Develop plan to reduce energy use in 
operational buildings through behaviour 
change.

Climate Change 
Officer

Will be assessed 
as the plan is 
developed

01/03/2021 30/06/2021 Delayed from 31/12/20202 due to covid-19; to be 
carried out once buildings are in regular use.

4 Consider options for green electricity for 
use in operational buildings. Head of Housing Cost neutral 01/04/2020 31/11/2020

Complete; all buildings have used 100% renewable 
electricity supply from Haven and Opus since 
1/10/2020.



5 Review options to expand solar PV. Borough 
Solicitor started 30/06/2021 Anticipated any further projects will require 

specialist support from PCC

6 Gosport Leisure Centre Solar PV.
Borough 
Solicitor/Head 
of Streetscene

C £300k as per 
approved P&O 
Board Report

started 31/12/2021

Progressing with specialist support from PCC but 
delayed from 31/12/2020 due to furloughing of 
Leisure Centre staff and need to focus on financial 
impact on Leisure Centre of covid-19.

Reduce carbon emissions from GBC fuel

Action Lead Officer Cost/impact Start date Completion 
date Comments

7 Review options for electrical vehicles. Head of 
StreetScene 01/01/2021 31/03/2021

Lease on existing fleet vehicles ends in February 
2022. New vehicles to be procured for 
maintenance of grounds, parks and verges; 
potential for two of these to be electric but 
requirement to have vehicles available by April 
2021 may prevent electric vehicles from being 
procured initially. This will be reviewed in 2025 
with a view to increasing the proportion of electric 
vehicles.

8
Consider options for more effective and 
reduced business travel (green days, 
teleconferencing, driver training).

Climate Change 
Officer

Will be assessed 
as the plan is 
developed

30/09/2020 31/03/2021

COVID19 opportunities to be considered. Active 
travel plan currently being prepared for the Council 
by Sustrans but delayed from 31/12/2020 due to 
covid-19; further measures will be added to this.



Reduce GBC Carbon Footprint

Action Lead Officer Cost/impact Start date Completion 
date Comments

9 Develop training plan for councillors and 
staff.

Climate Change 
Officer

Will be assessed 
as the plan is 
developed

30/09/2020 28/02/2021 Delayed from 31/12/2020; draft training plans 
have been created and are currently under review.

10
Develop Climate Change impact 
assessment process for formal decision 
making. 

Borough 
Solicitor/Head 
of Corporate 
Policy and 
Community 
Safety

started 31/03/2021
Delayed from 31/10/2020; draft integrated EIA to 
be considered covering climate change impacts has 
been created and is under review.

11 Develop green travel plan for staff can 
still progress.

Sutrans/Climate 
Change Officer started 31/03/2021 Active travel plan currently being prepared for the 

Council by Sustrans.

12
Review Procurement Strategy and 
purchasing to incorporate carbon 
emission reduction and sustainability.

Head of Benefits 
Services 01/12/2020 31/07/2021 To be integrated via Contract Procedure Rules.

13 Reduce use of bottle fed water coolers 
and plastic cups.

Climate Change 
Officer 30/09/2020 30/06/2021 Delayed from 31/12/2020 due to covid-19; to be 

implemented once buildings are in regular use.

14

Promote a ‘green office’ approach 
(reduce waste, less use of paper, energy 
efficiency, reduce need to travel, 
recycling etc.) 

Climate Change 
Officer 01/01/2021 30/06/2021

15 New search engine: Ecosia. Climate Change 
Officer 30/09/2020 31/03/2021

Delayed from 30/11/2020; plan to encourage use 
of Ecosia has been developed and will be 
implemented once approved.

16 Staff based working group to reduce GBC 
carbon footprint.

Climate Change 
Officer 30/09/2020 30/06/2021 Establish mechanism to capture and implement 

ideas. Delayed from 30/11/2020 due to covid-19.



Reduce Community Carbon Footprint

Action Lead Officer Cost/impact Start date Completion 
date Comments

17

Support Greening Campaign - GBC to 
fund 5 communities for stage 1 and 
promote on a first come first served 
basis. 

Climate Change 
Officer

Funding of 
£3000 allocated 30/09/2020 31/03/2021

Support package the Greening Campaign provides 
to communities has been updated in light of 
restrictions due to covid-19, so still aiming to have 
communities signed up by 31/03/2021.

18 Increase promotion of energy efficiency 
offers and advice for homes

PCC/Climate 
Change Officer 30/09/2020 30/06/2021

Government grants promoted on GBC website.  
Dedicated Switched On Gosport website (being 
developed by PCC Energy Services Team) with local 
promotion of offers and advice.

19 Actively promote the ‘refill scheme’ for 
water bottles. 

Climate Change 
Officer 30/09/2020 30/06/2021 Delayed from 31/12/2020 due to covid-19.

20 Implement the walking and cycling clean 
air project. Sustrans started 30/06/2021

Deliver Sustainable Development and Travel

Action Lead Officer Cost/impact Start date Completion 
date Comments

21 Develop a Gosport Local Cycling & 
Walking Infrastructure Plan (due 2020). 

Traffic and 
Transportation 
Manager

Started 30/09/2021 HCC instrumental in delivery. 

22

Include new policies within the Gosport 
Borough Local Plan 2036: climate change, 
Passivhaus and Zero Carbon 
development, EV charging points, 
biodiversity net gain, trees and hedge 
coverage.

Deputy Head of 
Planning Winter 2020 Autumn 

2021

Need to review in light of outcome of Planning for 
the Future White Paper consultation (closed 
29/10/2020).



23 Support habitat gain through a 
biodiversity net gain SPD (due 2021).

Deputy Head of 
Planning Winter 2021

Spring/
Summer 
2022

Need to review in light of outcome of Planning for 
the Future White Paper consultation (closed 
29/10/2020).

24
Support habitat gain and improved water 
efficiency through a nutrient neutrality 
strategy (due 2020).

Senior Planning 
Policy Officer Winter 2020 On going Solent Nutrient Funding being developed and 

funding requested.

25 Promote the expansion of the Bus Rapid 
Transit system (ongoing). 

Traffic and 
Transportation 
Manager

Started On going Assist HCC in the development and any future 
expansion of scheme.


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE CLIMATE CHANGE BOARD
	Minutes

	7 Outcomes  from T&F Group
	8 Key Engagement Activities
	9 Climate Change Action Plan Progress

